
        L G A  

  taffordshire ’s voice for local government 

 
 
 

 

 
Staffordshire Local Government Association - Joint Waste Management Board 

 
Monday, 29 February 2016 

10.00 am 

Oak Room, County Buildings, Stafford 

 
John Henderson 

Honorary Secretary    
19 February 2016 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 
PART ONE 
 
1. Apologies  
 
2. Minutes - Joint Waste Management Board - 15 December 2015 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
3. Joint Waste Management Board Sub Group - Update (Pages 7 - 10) 
 
Report of the Staffordshire Waste Partnership Officer  
 
4. Strategic Waste Management Action Plan  - Performance Report (Pages 11 - 

12) 
 
Report of the Chairman of the Staffordshire Waste Officers’ Group  
 
5. Exploration of Efficiencies in Waste Management (Pages 13 - 54) 
 
Presentation by John Enright, Waste Programme Lead, DEFRA Local Partnerships  
 
6. Holistic Savings - Action Plan  
 
Item for Discussion  
 
7. Exclusion of the Public  
 
The Chairman to move:- 
 

 

 
County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI (01785) 276147 
Please ask for Jonathan Lindop 
Email: 
jonathan.lindop@staffordshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION S 



 

“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business which 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraphs of Part I 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) as indicated below”.  
 

 
Nil 
 
 
 

Membership 
 

Patricia Ackroyd 
Ann Beech 
Mary Bond 
Alan Dudson 
Iain Eadie 
 

Frank Finlay 
Terry Follows 
Arthur Forrester 
Gill Heath 
Michelle Thurgood 
 

 



1 

 

Staffordshire Local Government Association  
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE STAFFORDSHIRE AND  
STOKE-ON-TRENT JOINT WASTE MANAGEMENT BOARD  

HELD ON TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015  
AT CIVIC OFFICES, NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME 

 
Present:  

 
Cannock Chase District Council 
Cllr. A. Dudson 
Mr. J. Presland 
Nirmal Samrai 
 
 
East Staffordshire Borough 
Council 
Cllr. Mrs. P. Ackroyd 
Mr. A. O’Brien 
 
Lichfield District Council 
Cllr. I Eadie 
 
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough 
Council 
Mr. D. Adams 
Cllr. A. Beech (Chairman) 
Mr. A. Bird 
Mr. T. Nicoll 
 
Stafford Borough Council 
Mr. M. Street 
 

Staffordshire County Council 
Mr. I. Benson 
Cllr. Mrs. C.G. Heath 
Mrs. C. Ruskin-Brown 
Miss. S Talbot 
 
Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council 
Ms. N. Kemp 
Mrs. J. Redfern 
  
South Staffordshire District Council 
Cllr. M. Bond 
Mrs. J. Smith 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tamworth Borough Council 
Mr. A. Barratt 
 

Also in attendance: Mr J. Lindop (Staffordshire County Council) and Ms K. Cocks 
(Staffordshire Waste Partnership Officer).   
 
Apologies: Mr. B. Brockbank (Stoke-on-Trent City Council); Cllr. F. Finlay (Stafford 
Borough Council); Cllr. T. Follows (Stoke-on-Trent City Council); Ms. C. Gibbs 
(Stoke-on-Trent City Council); Mr. H. Thomas (Stafford Borough Council); Cllr. Ms. 
M. Thurgood (Tamworth Borough Council). 
 
PART ONE  

  
Minutes 

 
92. RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 October 2015 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
  



2 

 

 
Matters Arising 

93. There were no matters arising which were not dealt with elsewhere on the 
Agenda. 

Holistic Savings – Options/Proposals for Consideration 

94. The Board received an oral report from the Waste Partnership Officer informing 
them of the outcome of a meeting of Staffordshire Chief Executive’s on 3 December 
2015 at which they had given consideration to achieving holistic savings in waste 
across Staffordshire. 
 
Following their meeting, a draft Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) had been 
circulated setting out the way in which partner Authorities would work together on 
waste management issues in order to maximise efficiency and value for money. 
Furthermore, the MoU signified a commitment to change in order to deliver savings 
whilst delivering efficient standards that were fit for purpose in the light of the 
financial, legal, technical and operations factors applicable, from within an overall 
financial envelope of approximately £55m across all ten Authorities. 
 
Although not yet agreed and signed by all parties, the MoU referred to the need to 
procure external support to conduct a full appraisal of all the options available. 
Furthermore Chief Executives envisaged that this work would be funded from 
savings made from a reduction in payment of Green Waste Recycling Credits to 
District/Borough Councils by the County Council. The County Council’s 
Commissioner for the sustainable environment stated that he was not aware of any 
such commitment having been made and expressed concern that if this work was to 
be funded from his Authority’s savings, then this would mean those savings targets 
would not be met and the budgetary pressure would remain.  
 
The Waste Partnership Officer highlighted Section 7 of the MoU “Exceptions” which 
set out various fixed waste policy positions of certain Partner Authorities which the 
above appraisal would have to have regard to. In addition, she referred to the 
European Union (EU) which had recently adopted an ambitious Circular Economy 
Package including revised legislative proposals on waste and recycling which may 
also have to be reflected in the appraisal. 
 
Continuing, the Waste Partnership Officer informed them that Chief Executives had 
tasked her with producing a detailed scope for the review and; set out the key stages 
for obtaining Partnership approval. Initial comments on the draft Scope would be 
sought from the Chairman of the Local Authority Recycling Advisory Committee 
(LARAC) following which details would be circulated to all Chief Executives in 
January 2016. The Staffordshire Waste Officers Group would then consider the draft 
Scope at their meeting on 20 January 2016 for final sign-off by the Board in February 
2016.   
  



3 

 

 
Therefore, in order to meet this timescale, it was now necessary for them to decide 
on the future relationship between achieving holistic savings and recycling rates ie (i) 
should savings be made despite any adverse effect on performance; (ii) should 
current recycling rates be maintained or (iii) should savings be achieved through 
increased recycling. They noted that (iii) would require enhancements to current 
service provision and therefore an additional financial commitment from Partners, at 
least in the short term, may be required. 
 
During the discussion which ensued the Chairman of LARAC referred to the new EU 
Circular Economy waste targets which were currently being examined by the 
Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) prior to publication. A 
new target recycling rate of 65% is being proposed. Currently SWP authorities range 
from 36 to 55%. It was anticipated that these would include additional targets for 
material not previously included in the current targets such as furnace/incinerator 
bottom ash and garden waste. Furthermore, separate food waste collections may be 
required having regard to the likely ban on biodegradable waste being sent to landfill. 
Therefore, penalties may be imposed on local Authorities who failed to achieve 
adequate performance in these respects. 
 
The County Council’s Commissioner for the Sustainable County expressed his view 
that to give consideration to recycling rates at this juncture would be premature 
having regard to the primary aim of the review which was to produce holistic savings. 
He said that it would be more appropriate to consider all the options available and 
then examine their likely impact on recycling rates. The Member representative of 
Lichfield District Council agreed that the review need not be ‘rate focused’. However, 
it was important for progress to be made in accordance with the timetable laid down 
by the Chief Executives and for Authorities to be flexible and imaginative in their 
approach. 
 
The Waste Partnership Officer referred to a quote she had already received from a 
firm of external consultants for a Waste Composition Analysis (WCA) in order to 
provide the level of detailed data necessary to complete the review. Whilst data from 
a previous analysis was available, this had been undertaken in 2007 and therefore 
may be out of date. 
 
The officer representatives from the County Council commented that following the 
decision of the Board at their meeting on 28 October 2015 the anticipated savings 
achieved from the changes in the payment of Green Waste Credits to Waste 
Collection Authorities by the County Council would not be sufficient to fund either a 
full Waste Composition Analysis or external review. In reply, the Chief Executive of 
East Staffordshire Borough Council said that the Board should not be pre-occupied 
by the cost of the review. Continuing he said that any comprehensive examination of 
waste services for the purpose of producing savings would necessarily also take-in  
the effect of proposals on recycling rates. He went onto stress the importance of 
gaining political buy-in from leaders at Partner Authorities and said that Chief 
Executives had recently assuming a central role in driving this work forward because 
of to the urgent need to make progress.  
 



4 

 

The officer representative of Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council commented on 
the likely level of savings available from the reconfiguration of services owing to 
current operations already being 95% efficient and the officer representative of 
Tamworth Borough Council stated his view that standardization of services was key 
to producing significant savings.  
 
The Waste Partnership Officer referred to correspondence she had had with John 
Enright, Waste Programme Lead for Joint Working at DEFRA Local Partnerships 
who had offered to review previous cluster working reports for SWP authorities at no 
charge to the Partnership. She informed them that subject to the Board’s approval, 
this work could be initiated immediately. The Officer representative of Newcastle-
under-Lyme Borough Council then questioned whether John Enright should be 
asked to supplement his offer with a boarder approach to a review and for this work 
to be funded from the £20,000 grant received from the Local Government 
Association. 
 
Representatives of Partner Authorities expressed their support for such a proposal.  
 
The officer representative of South Staffordshire District Council spoke of the 
importance of including suitable wording in the scope which emphasised the need to 
achieve holistic savings and avoid cost shunting between Authorities. It was also 
necessary to specify a timetable for completion of this work which satisfied the 
expectations of Partner Authorities and specifically the Chief Executives having 
regard to their MoU. 
 
In reply, the Waste Partnership Officer said that she would draft an outline scope 
having regard to the general comments made by Members and their wish for Mr. 
Enright to undertake the broad review. In the event that this work could not be 
funded entirely from the grant received from the Local Government Association then 
she would report back to the Board with a view to seeking approval for additional 
expenditure to meet any shortfall. However, it was anticipated that the grant would 
be sufficient. 
 
With regard to the presentation of the final report by Mr. Enright, the officer 
representative of South Staffordshire District Council suggested that a joint event be 
held at a central location, on a date to be arranged at the end of February 2016 to 
which the Board, Partner Chief Executives and  the Staffordshire Waste Officers’ 
Group be invited. Members of the Board then expressed their agreement with this 
way forward. 
 
95. RESOLVED – (a) That the oral report be noted. 
 
(b) That the Waste Partnership Officer draft an outline scope for a comprehensive 
independent review of all waste services in Staffordshire with a view to producing 
holistic savings and avoiding cost shunting. 
 
(c) That John Enright of DEFRA Local Partnership be asked to undertake a broad 
brush review of waste services in Staffordshire as set out in (b) above. 
 



5 

 

(d) That the meeting of the Board which was to have taken place on 27 January 
2016 be postponed to a date to be arranged, not later than the end of February 
2016, but the exact timing to be dependent on the production of the report from the 
review by John Enright. 
 
(e)  That all Partner Authority’s Chief Executives and the Staffordshire Waste 
Officers’ Group be invited to attend the re-arranged meeting to hear the presentation 
by John Enright following completion of the review. 
 
(f) That the Honorary Secretary make the necessary arrangements for the re-
scheduled meeting of the Board to be held at County Buildings, Stafford.                                           
 

Date and Venue of Next Meeting  
 
96. RESOLVED  - That a further meeting of the Board be held on a date to be 
arranged at the end of February 2016, to be hosted by  Staffordshire County Council.  
 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 





 
PROJECT PROGRESS REPORTS 

 

 

 

Joint Waste Management Board Subgroup 
 

2.15pm Wednesday 10th February 2016 

Members room 1, County Buildings, Staffordshire County Council 

 

1. Attendees 

 Chair of JWMB; Cllr Ann Beech (Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council) 

 Vice chair of JWMB; Cllr Mary Bond (South Staffordshire District Council) 

 2 further members;  Cllr Iain Eadie (Lichfield Borough Council) 

  Cllr Gill Heath (Staffordshire County Council)  

 Chair of SWOG; Mark Street (Stafford Borough Council) 

 SWP Officer; Kay Cocks 

 Member and Democratic Services; Jonathan Lindop 

 

2. SWOG  update  

KC provided the group with a verbal update on other issues being discussed at SWOG that 
have not been included in the project progress report (item 4); 

SWP have submitted a letter to DEFRA stating our concerns regarding recent changes to 
the requirements for WasteDataFlow, specifically Question 100.  

The re-structure at Stoke on Trent City Council is now complete and nearly all posts filled.  

 

3. TOG updates 

The main project of TOG is included in the project progress report (item 4), however KC 
stated that the group is continuing to pull together and is attended well. The next meeting 
is 9th March at Tamworth. The Transport Officers are now seeking speakers for the 
meetings, showing greater ownership of the group and meetings.  

 

4. SWP Officer’s progress report (please see attached)  

KC talked the group through the various projects in the attached report.  

Additionally, she updated the group on a recent trade press article on 
www.letsrecycle.com regarding our drive for holistic savings, taken from a local article in 
the Stoke Sentinel, based upon a report which went to SoTCC’s cabinet.  

 

5. Upcoming JWMB meeting; agenda creation 

The group agreed that the next JWMB meeting, on Monday 29th February, should centre 
solely upon the presentation of the report by Local Partnerships, followed by a discussion 
on how to move forward. Usual standing agenda items, such as the sub-group minutes / 
progress report, and the data sheet, will be issued as briefing papers only.  

 



 
PROJECT PROGRESS REPORTS 

2 

 

Closed projects 

CCDC collection contract  

The collection contract procurement for Cannock Chase district Council has now been completed 

and the council has been invoiced for my dedicated time – these funds now reside in the SWP pot 

for spending on future joint projects.  

 

Love your bin man 

After developing an SWP template to follow, the onus is now on each council to take the campaign 

forward at a time suitable for them. Some have undertaken the campaign straight away.  

 

WEEE funding application – second round of BIZ funding 

Unfortunately, SWP’s application for funding was unsuccessful. The panel did not have a specific 

concern with the application that resulted in it being unsuccessful, stating the main reason our bid 

did not receive funding was due to the fund being oversubscribed. Feedback was limited and stated 

that our bid was accomplished but lacked clarity in one area, which has been taken on board for 

future applications. It is also believed that as Staffordshire County Council secured funding during 

the first round, by default, we may have been sidelined for funding, to give other areas a chance.  

 

On-going projects 

Four Ashes joint campaign 

This campaign is still ongoing due to issues of communication with Veolia. A final draft was issued 

which did not meet our requirements and received negative feedback from councils, to the point 

where many refused to use it. In order to try and preserve the relationship with Veolia, SWP and 

the County Council have worked to limit the scope of the campaign to hopefully produce a suitable 

outcome, without wasting more time and money on this fledgling project. Veolia have agreed to the 

changes and hopefully this will produce a useful campaign. The County Council have agreed to use 

the campaign (should the changes be successful adopted) to ensure we get some use from the 

project, but all other councils will be given the choice as to whether or not to use the material. No 

final result has been provided by Veolia yet, but hopefully this will occur very soon, so this project 

can finally be closed.  

 

CPC training collaborations 

Procurement of CPC training as a collaborative project has been investigated in a number of ways, 

and plans are now focused upon using a training broker to facilitate the course procurement. 

Meetings are underway to determine if SWP can piggy back onto the existing County Council 

contract with a large brokerage firm who will be able to meet the needs of Transport Officers to 



 
PROJECT PROGRESS REPORTS 

 

 

3 

facilitate CPC training sessions. The success of the joint working now depends on the relationship 

we can cultivate between the broker and the councils.  

 

Holistic savings for Staffordshire 

Following the additional meeting the JWMB in December, SWP have now commissioned Local 

Partnerships to undertake the high level review of all waste management services in the area with 

the aim of seeking holistic financial savings for the tax payer. Working is underway on the report, 

with SWP support during regular correspondence. The report will be issued to all meeting 

attendees, 1 week prior to the next JWMB.  

The next JWMB is scheduled for Monday 29th February and will be attended by Local Partnerships 

to present and discuss the report content and to determine a suitable way forward. In addition to 

Members and directors of service that usually attend JWMB, Chief Executives and Officers have also 

been invited to attend.  

 

New projects 

Bulky waste 

Recent discussion at SWOG around possible ideas of how to improve bulky waste collections by 

reducing the amount sent for incineration and increasing reuse using collaborations to also reduce 

costs, led to an idea to piggy bank upon the existing HWRC contract (which is within EU 

procurement rules due to how the contract was procured). The County Council, as the contract 

holder, are in talks with FCC to discuss the feasibility of them adopting a wider remit with regard to 

bulky waste and reuse. Other ideas were discussed at SWOG and will be progressed if the first 

option is not deemed viable.  

 

Calendars 

A baseline exercise was conducted to determine the variety of collection calendar methodologies 

within SWP. Currently all collection calendars are created and delivered differently for each council. 

Without some consistency, there are no savings to be made. As each council is happy with its 

current calendar design, the main saving could be achieved from the delivery aspect. It is currently 

being assessed whether the procurement of a contract with a forfillment company on a partnership 

collaborative level would provide financial savings. This would require some consistency between 

councils in terms of frequency of issue, delivery dates and size of the calendars, but the design 

aspect would remain council specific.  

 

Food Partnership 

Spearheaded by the County Council’s Rural Development Team, there are plans to develop a food 

partnership across the region, bringing together all stakeholders in food, from production to waste. 



 
PROJECT PROGRESS REPORTS 

 

 

4 

SWP have attended initial meetings, to promote the food waste work we already undertake, build 

relationships and potentially undertake future works with the partnership in joint projects. The 

Food Partnership is still in its infancy and will be developed over the coming year, however SWP 

are keen to join the  food waste action group to collaborate on preventing food waste with other 

stakeholders in the area (such as waste management companies, local infrastructure like the NHS 

and universities, food poverty charities etc).  

 

Support to SBC bidder’s day 

SWP have provided assistance to Stafford Borough Council’s recent bidder’s day for their waste 

collection / processing / street cleansing / communications / CRM contract procurement. The day 

went very well and provide a great platform for SBC to move forward their procurement. The 

contract will likely name other SWP councils on the OJEU notice, and information from the bidder’s 

day soft market testing is of use to some councils potentially looking to also procure collection 

contract in the near future.  

 

Additional 

Ongoing discussions with Biffa on the DRM processing contract due to concerns regarding rejected 

loads.  

 



Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
To date 

2015/16
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

To date 

2015/16
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

To date 

2015/16

East Staffordshire BC 112.62 111.36 223.98 55.62% 54.09% 54.86%

Lichfield DC 116.18 114.74 230.92 57.54% 55.61% 56.58%

Tamworth BC 116.96 110.52 227.48 52.21% 51.96% 52.09%

Cannock Chase DC 112.35 110.87 223.22 55.98% 54.91% 55.45%

South Staffordshire Council 116.13 115.18 231.31 58.13% 56.29% 57.21%

Stafford BC 106.79 106.37 213.16 59.05% 57.86% 58.46%

Staffordshire Moorlands DC 97.60 94.62 192.22 59.90% 61.40% 60.65%

Newcastle-under-Lyme BC 108.77 104.11 212.88 54.70% 55.50% 55.10%

Staffordshire County Council 139.52 139.91 279.43 54.60% 52.50% 53.55% 1.5% 2.0% 1.75%

Stoke-on-Trent City Council 146.64 140.81 287.45 42.10% 43.20% 42.65% 4.4% 7.5% 5.95%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
To date 

2015/16
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

To date 

2015/16
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

To date 

2015/16

East Staffordshire BC 19.39% 20.16% 19.78% 36.13% 33.90% 35.02%

Lichfield DC 23.97% 25.60% 24.79% 33.57% 30.01% 31.79%
Tamworth BC 25.68% 29.00% 27.34% 26.53% 22.96% 24.75%
Cannock Chase DC 26.97% 27.99% 27.48% 29.01% 26.91% 27.96%
South Staffordshire Council 21.01% 22.20% 21.61% 37.10% 34.06% 35.58%
Stafford BC 21.46% 23.18% 22.32% 37.59% 34.68% 36.14%
Staffordshire Moorlands DC 21.63% 21.31% 21.47% 38.12% 39.95% 39.04%
Newcastle-under-Lyme BC 15.74% 18.27% 17.01% 33.56% 31.70% 32.63% 5.36% 5.54% 5.45%

Staffordshire County Council 21.60% 22.30% 21.95% 32.80% 30.00% 31.40%

Stoke-on-Trent City Council 18.83% 20.67% 19.75% 23.16% 22.46% 22.81%

Notes

Data consistent with WasteDataFlow out-turns. All data is provisional until DEFRA publication (due November 2016)

Staffordshire Joint Waste Management Board: 2015/16 National Indicator Out-turns

Local Authority

% household waste sent for anaerobic digestion 

(formerly part of BVPI 82b)

% household waste sent for composting (formerly 

part of BVPI 82b)

NI193: % of municipal waste landfilled
NI191: Residual household waste collected per 

household (kg)

NI192: % of household waste sent for reuse, 

recycling or composting

% household waste sent for recycling (formerly 

BVPI 82a)
Local Authority





 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft Paper for Review:  

Staffordshire & Stoke on Trent - exploration of efficiencies in 

waste management 

 

 

 

Version No: Draft  

Issue Date:  22 February 2016  



 

2 

 

 CONTEXT ................................................................................................................................... 3 1

1.1 Introduction to the authorities and the partnership.......................................................................... 3 

 CURRENT PERFORMANCE .......................................................................................................... 5 2

2.1 Recycling rates ................................................................................................................................ 5 

2.2 Residual Rates ................................................................................................................................ 6 

2.3 Material Yields ................................................................................................................................. 6 

 CURRENT SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 8 3

3.1 Collection contracts ......................................................................................................................... 8 

3.2 Frequency of collection ................................................................................................................... 9 

3.3 Dry recyclate service ....................................................................................................................... 9 

3.4 Organic collection service ............................................................................................................... 9 

3.5 Containers used for household collection ..................................................................................... 10 

3.6 Commercial waste ......................................................................................................................... 10 

3.7 Bulky waste collections ................................................................................................................. 10 

3.8 Bring site provision ........................................................................................................................ 12 

 FINANCE ................................................................................................................................... 13 4

4.1 Costs ............................................................................................................................................. 13 

4.2 Income generation ........................................................................................................................ 15 

 POTENTIAL OPPORTUNITIES TO DELIVER EFFICIENCIES .............................................................. 17 5

5.1 Partnership opportunities to deliver efficiencies ............................................................................ 17 

5.2 Standalone Opportunities for efficiencies ..................................................................................... 19 

 APPENDIX 1: WRAP BENCHMARK COMPARISONS KERBSIDE DRY RECYCLING 2013/14................ 25 6

 APPENDIX 2:  CURRENT SERVICES .............................................................................................. 35 7

 APPENDIX 3: INCOME GENERATION SUMMARY ........................................................................ 40 8

 



 

3 

 

 Context 1

The authorities of Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent have jointly agreed to explore where efficiencies in 

waste services can be identified to provide savings for the Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent tax-payer. 

Local Partnerships1 have been asked to undertake an initial review, identifying opportunities for savings 

whilst at the same time taking into account how this may have an impact on performance. 

It is acknowledged that all Staffordshire Authorities and Stoke on Trent have been reviewing services and 

implementing changes to deliver more efficient services against an ever decreasing budget. The aim of this 

review is to flag up areas that could be explored further (or re-explored in some cases) and highlight 

examples of what has been achieved elsewhere and consider any impact on performance.  

 

1.1 Introduction to the authorities and the partnership 

There are 8 district authorities (WCAs), 1 county council (WDA) and 1 unitary authority (WCA/WDA) 

involved in the review. 2 of the districts currently provide a joint waste collection service; Lichfield and 

Tamworth. In addition Staffordshire Moorlands and neighbouring High Peak in Derbyshire have a joint 

CEO and staffing arrangement. 

 

All authorities are members of the Staffordshire Waste Partnership (SWP).  Within this two tier plus unitary 

partnership, 8 district and borough councils are Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs), the County Council is 

the Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) and there is 1 Unitary (Stoke on Trent) that serves as both WCA and 

WDA. The SWP was established in 2001 to provide a platform for collaborative working between the two 

tier authorities and the unitary authority, to provide a consistent framework for waste management through 

the production of a strategy, offer knowledge sharing opportunities, and to present efficiency savings with 

consortium agreements. 

                                                      

 

1
 Local Partnerships is a Treasury and LGA funded body, focused on supporting the public sector in terms of delivering an efficient 

value for money service. 



 

4 

 

Between 2009 and 2012, the main role of SWP was to highlight awareness of waste issues across the 

partnership.  During this time two Waste Minimisation Officers were employed by SWP, to support and 

work with local Waste and Recycling Officers in each authority. In 2013, SWP changed focus to adapt to 

changing legislation by concentrating on the strategic development of SWP. It was agreed that rather than 

have two Waste Minimisation Officers in post, a single strategic role that was focused on the management 

of key projects and facilitation of the required changes to meet the core objectives of the refreshed strategy 

was needed.  This arrangement is currently in place. 



 

5 

 

 Current Performance 2

2.1 Recycling rates 

Excellent recycling rates are being achieved (over 50%) by all authorities, with the exception of Stoke on 

Trent (33%). This compares very favourably with national figures; all bar one of the authorities are in the 

top 25% in terms of household waste recycling performance data.  

Comparing data over the last three years
2
 shows that the majority of authorities have seen a plateauing or 

slight reduction of performance from 2012 – 2015 (table 1); something that is being mirrored to an extent 

across the UK, particularly amongst higher performing authorities.  

 

Table 1: Household Waste Recycling Rates (ex NI192) 

 % household waste reused, recycled, composted (ex NI192) 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 (position in 
league table) 

LA reported 2014/15 –
JWMB paper Item 6C 
(spreadsheet)

3
 

Cannock Chase 51.96% 51.34% 50.1% (82) 52.08 

Staffordshire Moorlands 53.95% 50.76% 55.2% (36) 55.62% 

South Staffordshire 50.37% 55.17% 54.13% (44) 54.13% 

East Staffordshire 52.92% 52.25% 51.7% (62) 52.06% 

Newcastle under Lyme 51.73% 50.74% 51.6% (67) 51.59% 

Stafford 52.25% 52.59% 52.8% (51) 54.80% 

Lichfield & Tamworth   54.10% (~45)
4
 54.10% 

Stoke on Trent 36.63% 34.31% 33.7% (294) 33.7% 

Staffordshire CC 53.63% 52.35% 51.9% (57) 55.6% 

 

For many authorities maintaining a service and also maintaining levels of performance being achieved, on 
an ever decreasing budget, remains the priority. Whilst for others, some changes being considered to meet 
budget shortfalls will have an inevitable impact on performance levels. For authorities in Staffordshire that 
are achieving over 50% there is a question of whether there is an appetite to forgo a percentage point or 
two if the savings are significant enough, or whether politically this is unpalatable considering the targets

5
 

set out in the Integrated Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent 
(refreshed and updated in 2013). 

                                                      

 

2
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env18-local-authority-collected-waste-annual-results-tables 

3
 Reasons given by the authorities for the difference in recycling rates are varied and include: estimated data being 

used on the JWMB spreadsheets; authority data being material collected for recycling (and therefore including 
reject/contaminants whereas the government data excludes this); street sweepings being included in the SCC figure, 
and not being accounted for in the government recycling data. 
4
 No combined figure for the two authorities is given. If we base it on the figure provided in the LA spreadsheet then 

it would place them around 45
th

 in the table. 
5
 A target was set to achieve 55% by 2015 and in the refreshed strategy in 2013 it was deemed that authorities were on track to 

achieve this, although this has not been the case. However a more far reaching target has not been set for 2020 and it should be 
noted that the SLA regarding four ashes EFR has the deadline of 2020 for the 55% target which is higher than the national target 
of 50% by 2020. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env18-local-authority-collected-waste-annual-results-tables


 

6 

 

2.2 Residual Rates 

In terms of residual waste, again there has been some movement, with most authorities seeing a slight 

increase on last year’s data (table 2).  Clearly if the trend continues with residual waste arising increasing, 

this is an added cost, specifically for the WDA/Unitary in terms of treatment and disposal. 

 

Table 2: Residual household waste per household 

 Residual household waste per household (kg/household) (Ex 
NI191) 

2012/13 

 

2013/14 2014/15 

Cannock Chase 442.98 449.02 460.5 

Staffordshire Moorlands 419.16 450.56 395.5 

South Staffordshire 479.50 446.74 461.0 

East Staffordshire 434.74 448.13 448.1 

Newcastle under Lyme 421.64 433.03 427.5 

Stafford 437.81 441.25 443.6 

Lichfield  410.60 425 449 

Tamworth 440 440 445 

Stoke on Trent 561.27 603.36 601.4 

Staffordshire County Council 495.77 521.33 528.3 

 

Any opportunities identified need to be considered in the context of ensuring residual waste per household 
does not continue to grow; specifically in terms of whether any initiatives identified as generating savings, 
avoiding costs or generating an income at WCA level then have a negative impact at the WDA level in 
terms of residual waste arisings. 

2.3 Material Yields 

In terms of material yields, WRAP benchmarking 2013/14 has been used to make an initial review of yields 

of material collected for recycling (refer to Appendix 1). Cannock, Lichfield, South Staffordshire, and 

Tamworth perform very well for all materials compared to other authorities at a UK and regional level and 

also compared to those authorities with similar characteristics. East Staffordshire and Stafford
6
 appear to 

underperform with regard to paper but perform comparably well for all over materials at UK, regional and 

comparable authority level. Staffordshire Moorlands has a good overall comparable yield in terms of 

combined data for the five widely recycled materials, but performance varies for specific materials, such as 

paper and textiles. Stoke on Trent is low for paper and has a variable performance for other materials at 

UK and regional level, but performs well in relation to textiles. The overall yield for the 5 widely recycled 

materials is comparably low. Newcastle under Lyme yield figures are generally low to mid table for all 

materials using the WRAP benchmark. 

Some more up to date yield data has been made available by some of the authorities in the review, but it is 

very variable in terms of detail provided (Appendix 1: Table A1.3). In addition it refers specifically to 

                                                      

 

6
 Care must be taken when using this data. To calculate yield tonnages re taken from Q10 (kerbside) of WasteDataFlow. 

Where an authority collects comingled estimates are made of the proportion of each material in the mix is applied to the 
tonnage. Therefore the effect of splitting out this tonnage on the individual material yields is quite significant and it should be 
noted that these yields are estimates, particularly when comparing to authorities who are collecting material separately and are 
reporting actual tonnage. In addition contamination has not been factored in to these yield estimates. 



 

7 

 

kerbside collected material. One point to note is that the yield in Kg per household for mixed garden and 

food waste is generally no greater than the yield generated for garden only collections (this is discussed in 

more detail in Section 6). In addition, whilst the 2013/14 WRAP benchmarking shows Newcastle under 

Lyme generally performing low to mid table, it is worth pointing out that the overall yield for kerbside 

collected material in 2014/15 for Newcastle under Lyme is high and also benchmarks very favourably with 

APSE average data. 

Obviously yield only tells part of the story, it does not account for quality and contamination. For those 

offering a comingled collection, whilst yield of collected recyclate may be high, there will be some loss 

through rejects at the MRF. Whereas Newcastle upon Lyme, which offers a source separation scheme, 

they may be comparably lower than others in yield collected, however the significant income from the 

recyclate could reflect the quality of material they are collecting. In addition, Newcastle upon Lyme is 

introducing changes to the collection service in order to increase the quantity of material being collected, 

so we can expect a significant change to the benchmarking data show for 2013/14. 



 

8 

 

 Current services 3

3.1 Collection contracts 

Across the 9 authorities with collection responsibilities, in-house services dominate. Those who are 

contracted out are the neighbouring authorities of Cannock Chase, South Staffordshire and Stafford and all 

are with Biffa. Contracts are currently not co-terminous or delivered in partnership; there has been some 

consideration of the potential to deliver joint services in the past, this is discussed in more detail later in the 

report. 

 

Table 3: Collection contacts 

 Residual Recyclate Organic 

Cannock Chase Biffa (from 04/16 until 
2023) 

Biffa (from 04/16 until 
2023) 

Biffa (from 04/16 until 
2023) 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

In-house In-house In-house 

South Staffordshire Biffa (until 2020) Biffa (until 2020) Biffa (until 2020) 

East Staffordshire In-house In-house In-house 

Newcastle under Lyme In-house In-house (from 07/16) In-house 

Stafford Biffa (until 2018) Biffa (until 2018) Biffa (until 2018) 

Lichfield & Tamworth In-house In-house In-house 

Stoke on Trent In-house In-house In-house 

 

There is much discussion at present as to whether in-house or contracted service offers the best value for 

money. SWP has recent examples of where a partial in-house service has been fully outsourced and 

equally where a partial outsourced service is being brought back in-house. There is no definitive answer as 

to which approach is best and both offer arguable strengths and weakness; the priority remains selecting 

the best option for each circumstance. However one area that is expected to feature more widely when 

considering models of working, is the formation and role of a Teckal Company; wholly owned by local 

authorities and providing services to those authorities.  In section 6, we cover more on how a number of 

authorities are adopting this method to provide waste services.  

  



 

9 

 

3.2 Frequency of collection 

The standard residual collection is fortnightly. This reflects the majority of authorities in England with 72% 

currently providing a fortnightly residual collection (WRAP 2014/15 data for England
7
). In terms of dry 

recyclate all authorities provide a fortnightly collection of dry recyclate, with the exception of Newcastle 

under Lyme which is commencing a weekly collection of dry recyclate in July 2016.  With this increase in 

frequency (which will increase available weekly capacity for recyclate) it is estimated that this change will 

bring about savings of £500,000; achieved through remodelling of transfer and sorting facilities which will 

support increased diversion of recyclables, reduced operational costs from new vehicles, plus additional 

income from increased tonnage of recyclate.   

3.3 Dry recyclate service  

Three authorities offer a comingled service, three offer two stream (comingled plus separate paper), one 

offers three stream (comingled, paper and textiles), and Newcastle under Lyme provides a multi-

material/source separated service. This range of systems compares with the national picture where around 

51% authorities are providing comingled, 33% are providing two stream, and 25% are multi material/source 

separated (WRAP 2014/15 data for England
8
).  

The authorities offering 2 and 3 stream collections are neighbouring WCAs, and whilst all collect paper 

separately, different receptacles are used for the separated materials. 

3.4 Organic collection service 

Currently four authorities collect mixed garden and food together but this will drop to three in April 2016 

when Cannock remove food waste from the organic collection service and drop again to two when East 

Staffordshire remove food waste from the mixed collection in April 2017. Three (soon to be four/five) collect 

just garden and have no separate provision for food waste and only one authority collects separate garden 

and separate food. This does not reflect the current picture in England where 31% authorities have a 

separate food collection and 17% mixed food and garden (WRAP 2014/15). It should be noted that 

Lichfield and Tamworth did offer a mixed garden and food waste collection until 2014 when the food aspect 

of the service was withdrawn due to cost of treatment and the low levels of food waste collected. Cannock 

is changing its service and removing food from April 2016 for the same reasons.  

This is a pattern that is starting to emerge across the UK, with high gate fees charged at IVC facilities, 

compared to gate fees for open windrow, suitable for garden waste. The median gate fee for open air 

windrow, is £24 per tonne of garden waste, compared to £46 per tonne of mixed garden and food waste at 

an IVC facility (WRAP Gate Fees Report 2015); these figures are broadly comparable in Staffordshire, 

although open windrow is cheaper in each case (Table 4).  In addition participation in food and garden 

waste mixed collections can be relatively poor, making it an expensive service for limited gain if the 

purpose is to remove food waste from residual waste stream.  

None of the authorities currently charge
9
 for garden waste collection, compared to 42% authorities in 

England (WRAP 2014/15
10

). However three, soon to be four, authorities collect just garden waste and 

therefore the potential (if there is the appetite for it) for a charge to be applied does exist.   

  

                                                      

 

7
 http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/ORIS.aspx  

8
 http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/Statistics.aspx  

9
 Newcastle under Lyme charges for an additional bin for garden waste – there is a fee for the bin itself and a service 

charge. However the standard garden waste collection is free.  
10

 http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/Statistics.aspx  

http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/ORIS.aspx
http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/Statistics.aspx
http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/Statistics.aspx


 

10 

 

Table 4: Charges for organic waste treatment 

 Open windrow IVC (£ per tonne) 

Cannock Chase  £35.00 

Staffordshire Moorlands  £40.00 - £43.00 

South Staffordshire £19.29  

East Staffordshire  £49.29 

Newcastle under Lyme   

Stafford £18.45  

Lichfield & Tamworth £20.00 £48.00 

Stoke on Trent  £38.86 - £54.31 

 

3.5 Containers used for household collection
11

 

A range of bins used across the authorities for residual collection including 140l, 180l, 240l. 240l wheeled 

bins are used for garden/garden & food collection. 1 authority offering food only collection use kitchen 

caddy and kerbside caddy 

All WCAs use 240l wheeled bins for recyclate collection, with the exception of Newcastle under Lyme. This 

container is blue except in Staff Moorlands where it is grey. 4 charge for replacement containers 

(damaged, stolen or lost) as standard; this is becoming increasingly common across authorities in England, 

who are seeking additional ways to generate income and support service costs. Newcastle under Lyme 

does not charge for replacement containers for recycling, but does charge for replacement wheeled bins if 

they are lost or stolen (free of charge if damaged). 

3.6 Commercial waste
12

 

Six authorities offer a commercial waste residual collection (although in Lichfield and Tamworth, the 

collection only services Lichfield). Of those two also offer a comprehensive recyclate collection and a 

further two offer a more limited recyclate collection service.  In addition Stoke-on-Trent will also be 

introducing a trade recycling service in April 2016.  For Staffordshire Moorlands
13

 the financial gain is 

substantial and in four of the six authorities offering a commercial service, a profit is being generated even 

when considering disposal costs.  

3.7 Bulky waste collections
14

 

All charge for collection for disposal: £15 to £36 for around 3 items. In WRAPs bulky waste guidance they 

state an average charge of £25 per 2 items. In addition Beasley Associates holds a database of bulky 

waste charges across local authorities in England (updated January 2016) and the range for 3 items tends 

to be mid £20’s to mid £30’s, so some authorities are potentially at the cheaper end of the scale
15

. 

Staffordshire Moorlands and Newcastle under Lyme have partnered with a reuse organisation to deliver 

bulky waste collections for residents and it is a cost neutral service for the two authorities. 

                                                      

 

11
 Refer to Appendix 2, table A2.1 for detail on collection containers used by the different authorities. 

12
 Refer to Appendix 2, table A2.2 for detail on commercial collections used by different authorities. 

13
 Staffordshire Moorlands also collect food and garden waste in their commercial collection service. 

14
 Refer to Appendix 2, table A2.3 for detail on bulky waste collection charges, income and cost. 

15
 It should be noted that South Staffordshire will charge £30 for 1-3 items from 1

st
 April 2016.  

 



 

11 

 

  



 

12 

 

3.8 Bring site provision 

The number of bring sites available differs across the authorities (not necessarily reflecting size in terms of 

population, or in terms of geographical size). It is understood that there has been some rationalisation of 

bring sites across the partnership.  What is not known is how effectively the bring banks are being used, 

their success in terms of material diversion and the costs associated with them.  

 



 

13 

 

 Finance 4

4.1 Costs 

Total cost of waste services per household ranges from £62.91 to £86.37 for the WCAs with Cannock 

Chase being the cheapest and Staffordshire Moorlands being the most expensive (refer to Table 5). 

Generally authorities benchmark well against APSE figures. This figure includes recharges, which vary 

significantly from 2% (Cannock Chase) of total expenditure to around 14% (Newcastle under Lyme); with 

the APSE benchmark of 6.24% as the average  percentage of central establishment charges compared to 

total expenditure, all but Newcastle under Lyme and Staffordshire Moorland benchmark below that figure.  

In terms of true cost of service per household, excluding recharges, the range is from £61.39 (Cannock) as 

the cheapest to £76.31 as the most expensive Staffordshire Moorlands (which also has the best recycling 

rate). Cheapest authority is the smallest – Cannock - and has a fairly decent income from trade waste. The 

most expensive authority has the second best income from sale of recyclate and trade waste service 

(Staffordshire Moorlands). The authority generating the highest income from sale of recyclate and trade 

waste services (Newcastle under Lyme) is the second cheapest in terms of true service costs per 

household.  Income is discussed in more detail in section 5.2 

In terms of treatment/disposal costs the gate fees are amongst the lowest in the country (refer to Figure 1). 

In addition, the gain-share arrangements for treating third party waste are 70:30 in the Authorities 

compared to a national average of 50:50. However, now that the W2R Energy Recovery Facility is 

operational, the County may wish to explore a number of areas to deliver further efficiencies including, 

refinancing, insurance, capital contributions etc.  

 

Figure 1: Overview of Gate Fees 

 

. 

Staffordshire 
County 
Council gate 
fee 



 

14 

 

Table 5: 2014/15 baseline financial review; summary
16

 

Council Number of 
households 

Total cost of waste 
services (incl. 

recharges)  

Total cost per 
household 

(incl. 
recharges)  

APSE – Av. cost of 
collection service 

per household 
(incl.CEC) 

True cost of waste 
services (no 
recharges)  

True cost per 
household (no 

recharges) 

True cost per household 
(no recharges) plus waste 

disposal costs per 
household

17
 

W
C

A
 

Cannock 
Chase 

42,000 £2,642,249 £62.91 £65.35 £2,578,241 £61.39 £114.27 

East 
Staffordshire  

49,390 £3,383,816 £68.51 £65.35 £3,201,727 £64.83 £117.71 

Lichfield and 
Tamworth  

74,000 £4,797,601 £64.83 £65.35 £4,606,760 £62.25 £115.13 

Newcastle-
under-Lyme  

54,950 £4,051,069 £73.72 £65.35 £3,402,278 £61.92 £114.80 

South 
Staffordshire  

46,030 £3,271,893 £71.08 £65.35 £3,093,115 £67.20 £120.08 

Stafford  56,950 £4,289,558 £75.32 £65.35 £4,043,987 £71.01 £123.89 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands  

43,270 £3,737,348 £86.37 £65.35 £3,301,734 £76.31 £129.19 

W
D

A
 Staffordshire 

CC 
366,590 £20,243,592 £55.22  £19,385,353 £52.88 n/a 

U
n

ta
ry

 Stoke on 
Trent  

107,900 £12,295,572 £113.95  £11,582,541 £107.35 

 TOTAL costs 
to tax payer  

474,490 £58,712,698 £123.74  £55,195,736 £116.33 

                                                      

 

16
 WCA costing includes gate fees, but does not include income of recycling credits (to avoid double counting) - WDA costing includes recycling credit expense. New contracts for 2015 are not 

included in this financial year 2014/15, such as joint MRF contract for processing of dry recycling materials (with a vastly different financial structure). 
17

 Based on average disposal costs of £52.88 rather than individual authority disposal costs 



 

15 

 

Once the Hanford contract comes up in 2020 there is the potential to have one incinerator serving all 

SWP councils excluding Stoke-on-Trent who will continue to use the Hanford facility, directing all WCAs 

/ UAs into Four Ashes EfW plant.  The Hanford facility reverts to the ownership of Stoke-on-Trent City 

Council in March 2020. The Strategic way forward regarding this facility is currently being determined in 

conjunction with Staffordshire County 

In terms of processing five of the authorities have their recyclate processed by Biffa at Aldridge. Gate 

gees vary depending on the manner in which material is presented, whether there is an income share 

element and whether haulage fees are included (refer to table 6). 

 

Table 6: Processing Recyclate – gate fees 

Authority Facility (contract end date) 

 

Price (£ per tonne) 

Cannock 
Chase 

Biffa MRF (2025) £20.47 – income 25% of sorted output 
material (SOM) value 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

Pearce Recycling 
(2017/2020/2022/2025 

£27.13 (includes haulage, gate fee which is 
offset by income)  – SMDC receives 100% of 
income 

South 
Staffordshire 

Biffa MRF (2022) £20.47 – receive 25% of value of sorted 
output material (equates to £10.16 net gate 
fee) 

East 
Staffordshire 

Biffa MRF (2022/25) £45.93 comingled / £22.07 paper (includes 
haulage). Income on 50% share 

Newcastle 
under Lyme 

Material currently sold to a range of end users via contract on 50/50 basis. From 
July all material will be sold directly by the authority, retaining 100% of material 
value – likely to be in region £700,000 

Stafford Biffa MRF (2018) Collection contractor owns material and pays 
gate fees 

Lichfield & 
Tamworth 

Biffa MRF (2022) £29.72 - income on 50% share 

Stoke on Trent Regen, NI (2016) and DS Smith 
Birmingham (2016) 

£63 and £40 respectively 

 

4.2 Income generation 

Recycling credits are paid to the WCAs by the WDA and current levels of payments can be seen in 

Table 7. It should be noted that payments are made for green waste at present but Staffordshire County 

Council and its constituent districts have agreed to reduce the IPR for the next two years from this April, 

down from 3% to 1%. The issue of savings made by WCAs in green or other waste collection and 

treatment need to be considered in the light of any additional costs that could be imposed on the WDA. 

Credit levels need to be reviewed and included within any overall cost saving to prevent cost shunting 

or profiteering. 

 

Table 7 Recycling Credit Payments 

Authority 

 

Recycling Credit Payment 



 

16 

 

Authority 

 

Recycling Credit Payment 

Cannock Chase £912,840 

Staffordshire Moorlands £914,739 

South Staffordshire £1,181,250 

East Staffordshire £1,151,016 

Newcastle under Lyme £1,040,000 (£1,119,000 new service) 

Stafford £1,300,000 

Lichfield & Tamworth £1,899,300 

Stoke on Trent £780,000 

 

In terms of other income, this ranges from £28,604 per annum for Stafford (as a fully outsourced 

service) to £712,288 for Newcastle under Lyme (refer to Appendix 3, table A3.1). Sale of dry recyclate 

brings the greatest income to Newcastle under Lyme, at £219,397 per annum (likely to rise to £700,000 

per annum from July 2016).  Trade waste is a positive service in terms of income, generating an income 

for four out of six  



 

17 

 

 Potential Opportunities to Deliver Efficiencies 5

There are a range of opportunities to be considered, at both Partnership level, and also amongst cluster 

and individual authority level where efficiencies could be generated and these are considered in section 

6.1 and 6.2.  

It is fair to say that to date the SWP has been proactive in considering areas where efficiency savings 

can be realised. In fact a number (if not all) of the opportunities discussed below have been considered 

previously; this is not a reason to discount their potential or further potential but is worth acknowledging. 

Reasons for not progressing with some of the opportunities may no longer be valid or other factors may 

have come into play which override any previous reservations or conclusions drawn.  In addition some 

areas that have been taken up in the past may still present further opportunities to make savings for the 

local tax payer. The purpose of this initial review is to take an independent view of what is still possible 

in relation to efficiency savings in the widest sense, drawing on examples and evidence from 

elsewhere. 

 

5.1 Partnership opportunities to deliver efficiencies 

Integrated collection and treatment  

Considering the potential of forming a joint arrangement for both the collection and treatment of waste is 

an area that Local Partnerships has previously explored
18

 with five
19

 of the authorities in Staffordshire.  

It is generally considered that where responsibilities and also costs are divided amongst authorities 

acting individually, the decisions made regarding services and contracts may not be the most 

economically beneficial or provide the best value for money.  Clearly in coming together to deliver waste 

services economies of scale have a big part to play but also where a partnership has responsibility for 

collection and disposal services then decisions regarding infrastructure (including location and scale) 

are likely to be made with whole system costs in mind, providing the opportunity to generate efficiencies 

and performance improvements. 

When the idea of forming partnership arrangements was originally mooted in the early to mid-2000’s it 

was estimated that joint working could deliver savings of 10-15% depending on the number of waste 

collection authorities involved and their willingness to bring together operational arrangements. A further 

5% could be saved potentially by bringing together both collection and disposal activities. In addition, if 

the joint working involves bringing together ‘back office functions’, further savings of at least 5% can be 

expected in administrative costs. It should be noted that some savings may take longer to return than 

others and all are not necessarily deliverable within the early stages of the partnership. 

In addition to the potential financial savings, other benefits of closer joint working were identified, 

including: more effective service delivery in terms of higher recycling rates and successful minimisation 

and prevention initiatives; improved relationships between authorities and with the private sector, based 

on reduced risk and the additional certainty that robust joint arrangements give to the waste industry; 

and, environmental benefits such as reduced carbon emissions from more efficient transport 

arrangements. 

                                                      

 

18
 Local Partnerships, Outline Business Case: North Staffordshire Joint Collection and Treatment Partnership, July 

2012. 
19

 These authorities were: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council; Stoke on Trent City Council; Newcastle under 
Lyme Borough Council; Stafford Borough Council; and, Staffordshire County Council. 



 

18 

 

Many of the benefits identified in the review carried out by Local Partnerships still stand. Including for 

example: infrastructure streamlining and rationalisation: reduced haulage and associated transport 

costs; further collection route optimisation; ongoing procurement savings; reduced operational 

management costs and staffing cost; joint sale of recyclate; and, ‘whole system’ benefits that can only 

be fully realised by bringing together collection and disposal responsibilities. 

In addition to the efficiencies which can be achieved, other advantages to joint working at this level 

include the opportunity for partners to harmonise best practice across their services, making 

adjustments where practicable and sharing best practice to a greater extent.  In addition coming 

together as a partnership and delivering the service ‘as one’ may make the addition of a particular 

material or change in a service more affordable and appropriate than when acting alone, such as 

separate food waste collection.  New ways of working can be explored which can deliver further 

savings; although this does not mean that the services have to be totally aligned it should be noted that 

the closer they are usually enables potential efficiency savings to be maximised. 

 

The challenges were also detailed in the initial review, and at the time were considered too onerous to 

take the proposal further. Some of these were generic to partnerships considering closer joint working 

whilst others were more specifically focused on the potential partners. These included:  expectation 

management, specifically in terms of the level of financial savings to be achieved by all partners and the 

differing scale depending on individual baselines and cost sharing agreements developed; how the 

infrastructure optimisation will be achieved and over what timescales; being clear and agreeing the 

future policy direction for all partners; the potential identification of a lead/administering authority and 

agreement of mechanisms to share both the risks and opportunities; local sovereignty and political 

alignment; and the impact on existing partnership arrangements. 

Clearly there is a cost associated in developing an integrated solution in relation to project 

management, specialist support required in relation to technical modelling, legal advice, procurement 

support, and there will be set up costs. The value varies considerably depending on the number of 

partners who finally come together, the work required to realise an agreement that all partners can sign 

up to, the availability of expertise across the partners and the need to purchase external support, and 

the changes required to existing services. This can range from £50 - £150k per partner to fund the 

process (excluding any infrastructure/operational costs as a result of changes to the service) and clearly 

this needs to be a consideration when building the business case, although it would be expected that 

annual savings (or ongoing avoided costs whilst keeping services running) would be around 10% of 

current costs. 

 

Governance does not have to be onerous when setting up a partnership arrangement like this. Even 

when the power to develop a formalised Joint Waste Authority was in place no partnership took the 

opportunity to take this further, largely as a consequence of a lack of precepting powers and the need to 

agree funding structures with constituent authorities; it was a case of a lot more pain that gain in 

formulating governance arrangements at this level.  Those partnerships who have successfully 

implemented a joint model between WCAs and WDA, such as Somerset and Dorset, have chosen to 

set up a legal body to run all waste/recycling affairs across the partners, including centralising councils’ 

budget. 

More recently there have been examples where authorities have taken the next step in terms of 

extending their joint arrangements from treatment and disposal. The South London Waste Partnership 

was originally formed to deliver a joint procurement to deliver a waste treatment solution for their 

residual waste.  Having done so, they have broadened the remit of their Joint Waste Board to procure a 

shared services solution. They have completed the Competitive Dialogue process and have short-listed 

to three bidders. They are anticipating significant savings from delivering a shared service, potentially 

as much as 30% of the participating Authorities existing budgets. 

 



 

19 

 

In revisiting this joint working arrangement there does need to be an acknowledgement that the degree 

of savings will differ depending on the efficiencies gained by authorities to date and the degree of 

harmonisation that can be achieved. The same vision needs to be shared in terms of performance 

expectations and areas which have been politically unpalatable in the past need to be address and a 

common position found.  

 

Integrated working across clusters of WCA 

If the appetite for fully integrating disposal and collection is not there, then the next stage is to support 

cluster working across WCAs. There is a history of this in Staffordshire with positive success in terms of 

Lichfield and Tamworth, generating significant savings through joint service delivery and increases in 

performance.  The joint relationship was the outcome of an independent review in 2008 which looked at 

efficiencies amongst cluster within the SWP. The partnership operates as a Joint Administrative 

Arrangement (as per Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972).  There are no contractual 

obligations between the authorities; in essence each authority has simply discharged its responsibility 

for collection to the other authority. There is a clear constitution in place which governs the joint 

arrangements and is effectively a Terms of Reference of how the joint delivery operates.  A Joint 

Committee is in place and is responsible for ratifying all decisions in relation to the budget and 

management of the arrangement.   

The approach adopted by Lichfield and Tamworth is not unique and an increasing number of cluster 

arrangements have been developed across England such as East Sussex Collection Partnership, East 

Kent and also Mid Kent. All have achieved savings and have maintained or improved performances. 

Savings have varied across the partners and in some cases the priority has been avoided future costs. 

Other examples of arrangements at district/borough level include Stafford Borough Council sharing all 

back office functions (finance, audit, IT, HR) with Cannock Chase District Council, and Staffordshire 

Moorlands creating an alliance with High Peak Borough Council (HPBC). This partnership has resulted 

in all Officer based posts being shared from the CEO to the support staff and even some frontline staff 

(waste collection being the one exception) and further includes CRM and back office IT systems. This is 

based on an Inter Authority Agreement.  In addition, once the contracted collected service at High Peak 

BC comes to an end in 2017 there is the possibility of aligning services with Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 

Teckal Companies 

As already mentioned there is much discussion about bringing services back in-house compared to 

outsourcing services and the pros and cons of each approach. One other area for consideration is the 

role of Teckal companies. They have the potential to bring private sector benefits, whilst retaining local 

government control, having reduced procurement costs and bringing recycling profits back into the 

company. There are a number of examples of this approach in operation, for example Cheshire East for 

household and commercial waste collections, North Yorkshire & the City of York for recyclables and 

Liverpool combining all its waste services; their experiences will be vital in determining the future role of 

this model.  The question of whether a Teckal Company will be able to take advantage of the current 

legal position whereby a Local Authority does not have to charge VAT for commercial collection (within 

specific parameters) is one that would need further consideration and a definitive legal position would 

need to be sought. 

5.2 Standalone Opportunities for efficiencies 

Changing Organic Service 

Mixed food and garden waste: Generally the effectiveness of a mixed garden and food collection 

service in capturing significant proportion of the food waste is low. Whilst accepting that variations exist 

in terms of how urban an authority is, comparing yield data between authorities providing a mixed 



 

20 

 

garden and food collection, and a garden only, there is little difference. WRAP have estimated that a 

mixed garden and food waste collection will only capture up to 20% of all food waste. In addition it is 

estimated that just less than 10% of mixed food and garden waste presented, is actually food waste. 

However once mixed the treatment that is required is much more expensive than if it was just garden 

waste. Clearly thought needs to be given as to whether mixing these streams, for limited capture of food 

waste, is worth the additional cost required. It is recommended that, contract allowing, the remaining 

authorities offering mixed food and garden collection look to review this service and consider other 

options, such as separate food waste collection or no food waste collection. Clearly if food is withdrawn 

it will have a potential impact upon recycling rate, but bearing in mind the relatively low capture rate of 

the food element it is expected that this will be marginal.  Considerations also have to be given to 

additional costs associated with disposal rather than recycling and a whole system view taken of 

changing this element of the service. 

Charging for garden waste collection: Garden waste collection is a non-statutory requirement and as 

such can be a charged for service. This tends to be a politically challenging decision at the local level 

but one that increasing number of authorities are making.  The question of charging for garden waste 

has been much mooted across Staffordshire but there has been no political appetite to make these 

changes. However as a means to deliver a cost neutral service or bring in additional income, garden 

waste charges have proved to be a viable option. 

In terms of performance, in general when a charge is applied there is a reduction in participation – on 

average participation is around 40%. However the 40% that do opt into the service and pay for it, are 

committed and tend to use it to the maximum thereby the tonnage does not reduce by the same 

proportion.  Charges on average range from around £20 to £40 per bin per year. Depending on the 

tonnage collected and cost of delivering the service, a charged for garden waste service tends to cover 

its own costs in the least, although authorities do report making a net gain from the subscriptions. There 

are plenty of examples that Local Partnership have generated on where efficiencies have been made 

through charging for garden waste. For example, Ryedale replaced its free service on 1st June 2014 

and 47% of residents opted-in; it was found that 70% of material was still coming through, and 

subscriptions to the service generated £250k. Richmondshire have had similar success with their 

subscription scheme, with a current take up of 42% and income of £171K. Pendle has introduced a 

subscribed service for garden waste collections of £25 per bin per annum resulting in an income of 

£200,000 and resource savings equating to £28,000. Similarly, Wirral has introduced a £35 charge for 

garden waste collection (£30 for online subscriptions and £20 for each additional bin collected) resulting 

in £1.1 million NET saving compared to operating a free garden waste scheme available to all. HWRC 

can experience increases in garden waste as a result of charging schemes so this needs to be 

considered if a whole systems approach to costs and efficiencies is being adopted. For some 

authorities the decision to charge for garden waste collection came as a result of an end to recycling 

credit payments being made with respect to garden waste. For others once the charge was introduced 

this saw an end to the existing credit payments. The idea in principle being that with the introduction of 

charges, this aspect of the service is self-funding.  

If all authorities in SWP separate their green waste from the food waste then this opens the opportunity 

to introduce a charged for garden collection across the SWP. This will bring about many advantages in 

terms of joint communications and a single unified message and joint treatment options for the green 

waste. Although there will be an impact on recycling rate (and this is most pressing for those who are 

closer to 50% than 55% and also those for whom the organic fraction is responsible for more than half 

the recycling rate), if there is an appetite to implement a separate food waste collection then this could 

offset any reduction achieved. 

Exploring the potential to for joint procurement of food waste treatment: Newcastle, have recently 

tendered for food waste treatment and received a number of gate fee prices in the region of £10 - £15 

with one price coming in lower. Therefore the potential exists for other authorities to explore joint 

procurement. 



 

21 

 

Separate food waste collections (likely to be combined with a reduction of residual waste 

frequency or capacity). NBC already collect food separately. 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint procurement 

It is assumed that all authorities are using a recognised framework of some sort for the purchase of 

bins, however it is still worth considering joint procurement to create the volumes required to generate 

even more efficiencies and to be open about costs to ensure that the best possible deals are being 

generated for the local tax payer.  In terms of synergies, 5 of the authorities currently use blue 240l 

wheeled bins for their recyclate collection, all use 240L wheeled bins for organic collection, and a range 

of bin sizes are in use across the authorities for residual waste. Wheelie bins have a life of around 10 – 

15 years on average and there are annual replacements required. Although 3 currently have a 

contracted out service, it cannot be assumed that responsibility for bin replacement/purchasing will be 

with the contractor; in Stafford the Council have responsibility for purchasing the bins and delivering 

them and in Cannock Chase, responsibility for waste container stock will remain with the council with 

deliveries being undertaken by the contractor post April 2016.  

With vehicles there is evidence that economies of scale can result in significant savings. For example, 

four partner authorities from the York and North Yorkshire Waste Partnership took part in a joint 

procurement exercise for waste vehicles which saw savings of £264,000 across the authorities. 

Synergies do exist across the authorities in terms of collection systems in place and with 5 authorities 

providing an in-house collection and with 4 of those 5 using wheelie bins to collect the material there 

must be some opportunity to jointly procure and make savings from economies of scale. It is not clear 

as to the schedule for replacement vehicles (with lifespan of around 7 to 10 years) and this needs to be 

established in the first instance. 

 

HWRC rationalisation 

There are 14 HWRCs provided by Staffordshire County Council, and 2 provided by Stoke-on-Trent. In 

addition Staffordshire County Council SCC also share a HWRC with Warwickshire County Council, 

used by Tamworth residents It is assumed that there has already been a degree of rationalisation of this 

service and consideration of joint provision between Staffordshire County Council and Stoke on Trent 

City Council. In terms of taking this to the next step, integrating the contracts makes a lot of sense to 

ensure a consistent service is in place across the SWP. When looking at joint provision it would be 

appropriate to undertake a review of the use of the facilities with the potential to further rationalise what 

is currently available if facilities are being underused. Carried out jointly this will avoid the situation 

where the closure of one facility, or reduced operating hours, has a negative bearing on another 

provided by a different WDA. In other authorities reviewing operational costs associated with running 

HWRCs has enabled decisions to be made which have improved the overall cost and efficiency of 

these sites. For example, the GMWDA reviewed its 25 HWRCs, and this resulted in the closure of 6 

sites, and construction of 1 new purpose built facility, saving £600k per annum in operating costs. North 

Yorkshire County Council has introduced hardcore and rubble charges which will save £300k pa, and 

large vehicle restrictions and vehicle registration has reduced usage of HWRCs by 25%; this equates to 

a tonnage saving in the region of 25,000 tonnes, worth £2.5M pa. Rotherham has taken a very 

comprehensive approach to its HWRCS and introduced a raft of changes to its sites. This includes: 

reduced operational hours; closure of each site for a day a week; reduction in the number of permitted 



 

22 

 

visits from 12 to 6 per annum. They  allow one-off discretionary visits only in exceptional circumstances; 

banning all sign written vehicles or vehicles registered to a business from the site; and, allowing only 

small quantities of rubble ( 2/3 bags in boot of car) onto the site. As part of this negotiation and to 

support obtaining a reduction on the management fee the period of the contract was extended by a 

term of three years to allow partner to spread capital costs over a longer contract term. Savings in the 

region of £125k have been achieved by these measures. Following a similar exercise undertaken by 

partner Authorities Barnsley and Rotherham, Doncaster Council with effect from 6
th
 January 2014 

varied the HWRC contract with FCC and reduced the operating hours. There was a great deal of work 

undertaken to establish the most effective way of reducing hours whilst ensuring minimal impact on 

service users; traffic counters, skip movements and tonnage data was used. Savings achieved through 

reduced operating hours are expected to be £100,000 pa.  

Other areas that could be considered to reduce costs for operation of HWRCs is the potential to 

introduce charges for non-household waste or introduce a permitting system.  Staffordshire County 

Council are poised to introduce a charging structure, but again if both Staffordshire County Council and 

Stoke on Trent City Council were to adopt this policy at the same time then communications and 

enforcement can collectively be delivered and a common position adopted. 

 

Frequency of collection 

All authorities are on AWC collection for residual. An area that is being explored by some authorities is 

a move to 3 or 4 weekly collection of this element of the service. Ensuring a comprehensive collection 

service for all materials is essential, and this needs to be considered in the context of withdrawal of 

mixed food and garden waste collection or the introduction of a separate food waste service. There are 

examples coming forward now that detail the success of a reduced frequency including Rochdale, who 

recently introduced a 3 weekly collection of residual waste and at the same time introduced food and 

garden waste to all households (it was previously available to only half the borough). Early recycling 

figures are encouraging; since the roll out in October 2015 recycling rates in December 2015 reached 

49.4%, compared to 32.6% in December the previous year. Bury has had its scheme in place for 

longer, having implemented 3 weekly collections in October 2014 for residual whilst dry recyclate; food 

and garden waste collection remained on a 2 weekly cycle. Main drivers were environmental and 

financial; to achieve 60% recycling by 2016 and secure savings in excess of £800,000 through reduced 

disposal costs. In just 11 months there has been a significant impact on both tonnage of recyclate and 

food and garden waste collected, with just over 9% increase in tonnage in each of the comingled, paper 

and card, and food and garden bins, and a reduction in residual waste bins by 16.75%.  The recycling 

rate
20

 is reported to be on average 54.18% (with a peak of 59.69% reached in July); this compares very 

favourably with a recycling rate of 47% achieved in 2013/14 and the authority is on track to reach the 

target of £860,000 avoided costs as a result of reduced disposal
21

. 

 

Rationalisation of bring sites 

With over 220 bring sites across the authorities, although there has been rationalisation already by a 

number of authorities in the review, the potential to rationalise these further still is worth exploring 

through joint delivery or removal of sites through poor use. It is not clear how much the bring sites 

contribute to recycling rates or how much they cost (both in-house and contract) so it cannot be 

estimated what the impact of removal of facilities will have. Recently Wyre decided to remove all bring 

sites across the borough prior to retendering, due to misuse and anti-social behaviour, and this resulted 

in significant financial savings. Whilst recycling diversion rates were reduced by approximately 0.5%, 

                                                      

 

20
 Please note this is the rate for collected bin waste only, rather than the NI192 rate. 

21
 More information on this case study can be found in Local Partnerships North West Efficiency review 2016. 



 

23 

 

the savings realised for street cleansing and the contact Centre teams in no longer having to service the 

bring sites and handle associated complaints, far outweighed the percentage reduction. 

The scope for jointly contracting or jointly delivering bring sites should also be a consideration as there 

clearly is overlap across the authorities.  

 

 

 

 

Reducing residual capacity 

Stimulating behaviour change and maximising participation in recycling can be achieved by a number of 

different means, including reducing the available residual capacity. From the spreadsheets provided it is 

clear that a range of different bin sizes are in use for residual waste collection, but it is not clear whether 

all authorities have adopted smaller than 240L as standard. Other authorities are going down this route. 

For example, Bolton has approved plans to roll out a programme aimed at restricting residual capacity 

and as a result generate savings of £1,250,000 per year. From June 2016 to November 2016 all 240L 

grey bins, used to collect residual waste, will be exchanged for 140L bins. In preparation a borough 

wide engagement campaign is underway to door knock all households (minimum 40% contact rate) and 

increase the number of residents recycling. Results are already being seen ahead of the changes, with 

the tonnage of the grey residual bin decreasing and recycling increasing, therefore there is confidence 

that the predicted savings will be achieved. 

Reducing bin sizes is generally a more palatable means of reducing weekly capacity. 

 

Bulky collections 

There is a balance to be achieved between wanting to decrease the number of calls for bulky waste 

collections for disposal and increase reuse of furniture and other relevant bulky items. Placing a charge 

on collection does have a direct impact on calls made for collection, but the cost should not be set so 

high to generate an increase in flytipping.  Working in a partnership with a third sector reuse 

organisation can ensure the service is provide on a cost neutral basis; they accept material free of 

charge that can be readily reused and apply a charge where it is unlikely to be suitable for reuse. Two 

authorities have this arrangement in place; there is the potential to roll this approach out across the 

other authorities (particularly those providing an in-house service in the first instance and then contract 

allowing for the other authorities). 

 

  



 

24 

 

 

 

Produced by John Enright & Dr Jane Beasley 

 

Contact details 

John Enright 

Project Director 

Local Partnerships I Local Government House I Smith Square I London SW1P 3HZ 

Tel: 07824371720 

Email: john.enright@local.gov.uk I 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Disclaimer 

This report has been produced and published in good faith by Local Partnerships and Local 
Partnerships shall not incur any liability for any action or omission arising out of any reliance being 
placed on the report (including any information it contains) by any organisation or other person.  Any 
organisation or other person in receipt of this report should take their own legal, financial and/or other 
relevant professional advice when considering what action (if any) to take in respect of any associated 
initiative, proposal or other arrangement, or before placing any reliance on the report (including any 
information it contains). 

 

Copyright 

© Local Partnerships LLP 2015  

mailto:john.enright@local.gov.uk


 

25 

 

 Appendix 1: WRAP benchmark comparisons Kerbside dry recycling 2013/14 6

 

Key 

  

 
 

Authority is in bottom 
25% of LAs.  

Authority is in bottom 
50% of LAs  

Authority is in top 
50% of LAs  

Authority is in top 
25% of LAs  

Category Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Yield (Kg/hh/yr)  Cannock Chase 107.9 40.0 13.1 67.9 17.8 7.0 n/a 246.6 

East Staffordshire 40.6 48.1 15.7 81.6 21.4 8.8 n/a 207.4 

Lichfield 111.9 41.4 13.6 70.4 18.4 7.3 n/a 255.6 

Newcastle under Lyme 51.3 24.8 11.3 45.1 13.7 n/a 0.8 146.3 

South Staffordshire 105.4 39.0 12.8 66.3 17.3 6.8 n/a 240.8 

Stafford 38.7 50.7 16.5 86.1 22.6 9.2 n/a 214.6 

                                                      

 

22
 To calculate yield tonnages re taken from Q10 (kerbside) of WasteDataFlow. Please note that where an authority collects comingled estimates are made of the 

proportion of each material in the mix is applied to the tonnage. Therefore the effect of splitting out this tonnage on the individual material yields is quite significant and it 
should be noted that these yields are estimates, particularly when comparing to authorities who are collecting material separately and are reporting actual tonnage. In 
addition contamination has not been factored in to these yield estimates.  



 

26 

 

Category Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

43.8 38.3 12.5 64.9 17.1 7.0 0.2 176.5 

Stoke on Trent 23.7 33.7 11.0 57.3 15.0 5.9 2.2 140.8 

Tamworth 112.3 41.6 13.6 70.6 18.5 7.3 n/a 256.6 

How you compare against 
other UK Authorities  

Cannock Chase  

 

 

     

n/a 

 

East Staffordshire 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Lichfield 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Newcastle under Lyme 

 

 

    

n/a 

  

South Staffordshire 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Stafford 

 

 

     

n/a 

 



 

27 

 

Category Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

 
        

Stoke on Trent 

  

 

       

Tamworth 

  

 

     

n/a 

 

How you compare against 
other authorities in the 
same region  

Cannock Chase 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

East Staffordshire 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Lichfield 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Newcastle under Lyme 

 

 

    

n/a 

  

South Staffordshire 

      

n/a 

 



 

28 

 

Category Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

 

Stafford 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

 
        

Stoke on Trent 

  

 

       

Tamworth 

  

 

     

n/a 

 

How you compare against 
other authorities with 
similar characteristics - 
ONS area classification  

Cannock Chase 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

East Staffordshire 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Lichfield 

 

 

     

n/a 

 



 

29 

 

Category Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Newcastle under Lyme 

 

 

    

n/a 

  

South Staffordshire 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Stafford 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

 
        

Stoke on Trent 

  

 

       

Tamworth 

  

 

     

n/a 

 

How you compare against 
other authorities in the 
same rurality / urban area 

Cannock Chase 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

East Staffordshire 

      

n/a 

 



 

30 

 

Category Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

 

Lichfield 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Newcastle under Lyme 

 

 

    

n/a 

  

South Staffordshire 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Stafford 

 

 

     

n/a 

 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

 

 

       

Stoke on Trent 

  

 

       

Tamworth 

  

 

     

n/a 

 



 

31 

 

Table A1.2: Nearest neighbours (the 4 authorities that are most similar to the selected authority based on key population 
characteristics) comparison for dry recycling 2013/14. 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Cannock Chase District 
Council 

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 107.9 40.0 13.1 67.9 17.8 7.0 n/a 246.6 

1st - Flintshire County 
Council 

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 71.3 33.6 14.7 58.4 17.2 n/a n/a 195.1 

2nd - Ashfield  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 86.3 30.1 9.2 42.5 13.2 5.2 n/a 181.3 

3rd - North West 
Leicestershire  

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 53.3 32.3 8.3 51.7 15.2 9.6 0.3 160.8 

4th - Erewash  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 79.5 29.4 9.6 50.0 13.1 5.2 n/a 181.7 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

East Staffordshire Borough 
Council 

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 40.6 48.1 15.7 81.6 21.4 8.8 n/a 207.4 

1st - Erewash  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 79.5 29.4 9.6 50.0 13.1 5.2 n/a 181.7 

2nd - Kettering  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 51.2 36.4 14.3 75.5 18.6 7.5 n/a 196.0 

3rd - Nuneaton and 
Bedworth  

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 57.0 25.9 11.8 66.7 15.9 6.1 0.1 177.4 

4th - Sedgemoor  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 37.8 53.3 8.3 49.7 11.9 n/a 2.2 160.9` 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Newcastle-under-Lyme Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 51.3 24.8 11.3 45.1 13.7 n/a 0.8 146.3 

1st - Wrexham  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 69.1 22.6 6.2 40.9 9.3 n/a n/a 148.1 

2nd - Wyre Forest  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 97.4 36.0 11.8 61.2 16.0 6.3 n/a 222.5 

3rd - Broxtowe  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 86.8 30.3 9.3 30.3 13.3 5.3 n/a 169.9 

4th - Chorley  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 47.9 28.7 18.9 86.5 20.1 n/a n/a 202.0 



 

32 

 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

South Staffordshire  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 105.4 39.0 12.8 66.3 17.3 6.8 n/a 240.8 

1st - Lichfield  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 111.9 41.4 13.6 70.4 18.4 7.3 n/a 255.6 

2nd - Bromsgrove  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 96.8 35.8 11.7 60.9 15.9 6.3 n/a 221.1 

3rd - Hinckley and Bosworth  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 57.7 27.2 13.8 78.2 18.6 7.1 0.2 195.4 

4th - North Warwickshire  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 66.6 13.5 15.1 46.6 6.1 1.0 0.1 147.9 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Stafford Borough Council Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 38.7 50.7 16.5 86.1 22.6 9.2 n/a 214.6 

1st - Cheshire East  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 97.3 36.0 11.8 61.2 16.0 6.3 n/a 222.4 

2nd - Bromsgrove  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 96.8 35.8 11.7 60.9 15.9 6.3 n/a 221.1 

3rd - East Riding of 
Yorkshire  

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 81.9 30.3 9.9 51.5 13.5 5.3 n/a 187.2 

4th - Monmouthshire County 
Council 

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 114.8 42.5 13.9 72.2 18.9 7.4 n/a 262.2 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council 

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 43.8 38.3 12.5 64.9 17.1 7.0 0.2 176.5 

1st - Forest of Dean  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 50.2 n/a 10.5 46.4 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

2nd - Hinckley and Bosworth  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 57.7 27.2 13.8 78.2 18.6 7.1 0.2 195.4 

3rd - Lichfield  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 111.9 41.4 13.6 70.4 18.4 7.3 n/a 255.6 

4th - Wyre Forest  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 97.4 36.0 11.8 61.2 16.0 6.3 n/a 222.5 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Stoke on Trent City Council Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 23.7 33.7 11.0 57.3 15.0 5.9 2.2 140.8 



 

33 

 

1st - Tameside  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 52.2 24.6 13.3 60.8 14.1 n/a n/a 165.0 

2nd - Sunderland City  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 68.6 25.4 8.3 43.1 11.3 4.5 n/a 156.8 

3rd - Wigan  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 83.1 30.8 10.1 52.3 13.7 5.4 n/a 189.9 

4th - Barnsley  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 45.5 9.1 8.7 59.2 11.1 n/a n/a 133.5 

Local authority Detail Paper Card Cans Glass Plastic 
bottles 

Mixed plastic 
packaging 

Textiles All 5 'Widely 
Recycled' 
materials 

Tamworth Borough Council Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 112.3 41.6 13.6 70.6 18.5 7.3 n/a 256.6 

1st - Redditch Borough  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 99.1 36.7 12.0 62.3 16.3 6.4 n/a 226.5 

2nd - Cannock Chase  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 107.9 40.0 13.1 67.9 17.8 7.0 n/a 246.6 

3rd - Telford and Wrekin  Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 43.7 28.9 14.2 28.5 9.0 3.5 0.0 124.3 

4th - Nuneaton and 
Bedworth  

Yield (kg/hhd/yr) 57.0 25.9 11.8 66.7 15.9 6.1 0.1 177.4 

 

. 



 

34 

 

Table A1.3: Yield kg/household/per year for 2014/15  

Tonnages (Kerbside 
collection services - Yield 
in kg per household per 
year) 

 Cannock East 
Staffordshire  

Lichfield 
& 
Tamworth  

Newcastle 
under Lyme 

South 
Staffordshire 

Stafford  Staffordshire 
Moorlands  

Stoke on Trent  APSE 
benchmark 

average
23

 

(range) 

Commingled 68.22  183 300        

Paper 34.76  37     91.54 49 70.9 37.00   

Card 12.06        27.67 61 20.64 19.00  

Cans 79.80        11.33 12 15.1 11.00  

Glass 13.27        69.88 77 40.29 35.00  

Plastic bottles 17.13        29.83 13 16.83 n/a  

Mixed plastic packaging 0.00          8 13.17 22.00  

Textiles 32.53        0.00 0.03 0.72 0  

Total kerbside recycling 
recovered per household 

257.77 220 300 395.25
24

 230.25 220 177.65 124 346.39 

(134.12 – 
511.8) 

Residual waste 430.28  442 448   461.02 431 382.74 542  

Organic waste - garden only 0.00    240   288.34 249 n/a n/a  

Organic waste - garden and 
food combined 

212.13  248      281.8 136.00  

Organic waste - food only 0.00         n/a n/a  

Percentage of household 
waste sent for recycling (%) 

28.63 24.95% 29.8   25.44% 24.48 23.21 100  

Percentage of household 
waste sent for composting 
(%) 

23.57 26.68% 24.4   28.69% 30.33 31.95 100  

                                                      

 

23
 APSE Refuse Collection Performance Indicator Standings 2-14/15: Whole Service Report, indicator PI 26 – Kerbside recycling recovered per property (kgs) 

24
 From APSE Refuse Collection Performance Indicator Standings 2014/15: Whole Service Report, Newcastle under Lyme output/score 



 

35 

 

 Appendix 2:  Current Services 7

 

Table A2.1: Collection Containers 

Authority Residual bin Dry recyclate bin Organic bin Containe
r 
purchase 

Sale/hire 
income 

Cannock 
Chase 

240l standard for 
houses. Flats 2040l or 
1100l (communal). 

Households 240l or 
360l, flats 240l or 
1100l (communal). 

Wheeled bin 240l, not 
flats or poor access 
properties. 

£50,741
25

 £0 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

180l standard for 
houses 

Blue refuse sack for 
terraces/flats with 
limited storage space 
Communal - 1100l, 
660l, 360l. 

Standard property – 
240l bin, clear bag 

terraces/flats with 
limited storage space 
- kerbside boxes,  

Communal - 1100l 
bins, 360l for paper. 

Standard - 240l bin, 
terraces/flats with 
limited storage space - 
25l caddy and paper 
sacks for garden 
waste, communal - 
offered to all but some 
declined service, 360l 
bin or less. 

£50,183 £4,731 

South 
Staffordshire 

140l, 240l and 360l (no 
longer issued) 
wheeled bins, 
communal 240l, 660l 
1100l wheeled bins 
and sacks. 

240l wheeled bins. 
360l wheeled bins 
(communal 
properties) and small 
number of properties 
utilising reusable 
bags. 

240l wheeled bins. 

 

£73,687 £13,888 

East 
Staffordshire 

Wheeled bin 180l 
standard, with 240l 
offered, although 
majority of properties 
still have 240l. Large 
families have option to 
buy 360l at one off 
cost of £45 if 
struggling with waste. 
Communal EURO bin 
1100l.   

Wheeled bin 240l 
standard, with 360l 
offered, Communal 
EURO bin 1100l.   

 

Wheeled bin 240l as 
standard. Additional 
bins (max.3) may be 
purchased at £40 
each, one-off cost. 

 

£63,725 
(price 
broken 
down into 
res./recy./
garden 

 

Newcastle 
under Lyme 

Wheeled bin 180l 
standard with 240l 
offered to larger 
families (currently 60% 
of properties still have 
240l, being exchanges 
at point of failure). 
Communal Euro bin 

55l box, food caddy, 
reusable bags, single 
use bags (changing 
to 3 boxes from July 
2016 with new 
weekly recyclate 
collection). 

 

Wheeled bin 240l, not 
offered to flats or poor 
access properties. 

£84,903 £12,182 

                                                      

 

25
 The container cost given in spreadsheet 6B includes significant final payments for historic waste container leasing and is 

therefore not representative of a ‘normal year’. A more typical annual spend is shown in this year’s budgets of £50,741 
(2015/16 spend & commitment).  



 

36 

 

Authority Residual bin Dry recyclate bin Organic bin Containe
r 
purchase 

Sale/hire 
income 

for flats. 

 

Stafford Wheeled bin 180l, 
240l, 360l, 1100l, 
sacks. 

 

Wheeled bin 240l, 
1100l (some 
communal/schools). 

 

Wheeled bin 240l, not 
offered to flats 
individually - 
communally if needed. 

£70,000  

Lichfield & 
Tamworth 

wheeled bins, 140, 
180l, 240, 360l 1100l, 
sacks. 

Wheeled bin 240l, 
Communal EURO 
bin 360l , sacks. 

wheeled 240l bins 

 

£83,424 £950 

Stoke on 
Trent 

Wheeled bin 180l, 
240l, 360l, communal 
EURO bin 660l and 
1100l, skips, sacks. 

Wheeled bin 240l 
green box>50l, 
sacks. 

 

Wheeled bin 240l. 

 

£173,911  

 

Table A2.2: Commercial collection 

Authority Residual 
Collection 

Recyclate Collection Cost Income Overall 
Cost/Overall 
income 

Cannock 
Chase

26
 

Yes No £182,758 £208,522 £25,764 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

Yes Service being rolled out to all 
commercial waste customers 
-– full service is available 
including dry recyclate plus 
food and garden 

£190,548 £427,492 £236,944 

South 
Staffordshire 

n/a n/a    

East 
Staffordshire 

Yes Paper & Card £188,000 £173,000 £15,000 

Newcastle 
under Lyme 

Yes Full range £377,422 £446,317 £68,895 

Stafford n/a n/a    

Lichfield & 
Tamworth 

Yes 
(Lichfield) 

Full range (Lichfield only) £238,371 £337,849 £99,478 

Stoke on 
Trent 

Yes No £891,585 £872,858 £18,727 

 

  

                                                      

 

26
 As of April 2016 Commercial  Waste will be undertaken by Biffa with no cost or income generation for 

Cannock Chase 



 

37 

 

Table A2.3: Bulky waste collection  

Authority Service 
delivery 

Charge to hh Cost of 
service 

Income  Overall 
cost/Overall 
Income 

Cannock 
Chase

27
 

In house until 
April £17.50 

£81,150
28

 £14,943 £66,207 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

Furniture Mine Free if reusable, 
£35 (upto 3), £55 
(4-6), £70 (7-9), 
£10 (per 
additional) 

In partnership to an external reuse 
organisation – cost neutral service 

South 
Staffordshire 

Biffa £15 for 3 items 
(max 9 collected)  

To be £30 for 1 – 
3 item, £60s 
from 1

st
 April 

2016. 

£31,728 £22,365 £8,913 

East 
Staffordshire 

In house £20 up to 6, £5 
each item more 
up to £10 

Do charge but not showing as separate cost 
or income 

Newcastle 
under Lyme 

Furniture Mine Free if reusable, 
£35 for 1 to 3 if 
not 

In partnership to an external reuse 
organisation – cost neutral service 

Stafford Biffa £36 up to 3/£18 
if on benefits - 
BIFFA 

£15,260 £28,079 £12,820 

Lichfield & 
Tamworth 

In house 
£15 first item 

£56,330 £47,238 £9,092 

Stoke on 
Trent 

In house 
£15 for 5 

   

 

Table A2.4: Bring Site provision 

Authority Number of 
bring banks 

Material collected Service delivery 

Cannock 7 Comingled (5), glass (1), paper 
(1) 

In-house plus Berryman 
and Palm 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

0   

South 
Staffordshire 

16 Paper, glass, textiles, books Palm Recycling Ltd, 
Berryman and JMP 
Wilcox Ltd 

East 
Staffordshire 

8 Comingled, plus paper, card, 
textiles, small wee 

In-house (comingled and 
also paper/card using 

                                                      

 

27
 As of April 2016 Bulky Waste Collections will be undertaken by Biffa at a cost of £18,760 with no income 

generation for Cannock Chase. 
28

 This cost seems high as it includes labour elements for the delivery and repair of waste containers for all 
streams - as it is undertaken by the same team and cannot be split out. 



 

38 

 

Authority Number of 
bring banks 

Material collected Service delivery 

existing fleet using 1100L 
bins), textiles (Wilcox), 
small WEEE collected In 
house and delivered to 
CA site 

Newcastle under 
Lyme 

15 Full range (as offered by 
kerbside) 

In-house from July 2016 

Stafford 22 Paper, card, cans, mixed glass, 
textiles 

Biffa & Downings & 
Wilcoxs 

Lichfield & 
Tamworth 

34 (Tamworth) 
& 25 (Lichfield) 

Paper, glass, textiles Palm, Berryman, ERC, 
SA, Wilcox, Traid 

Stoke on Trent 48 Paper, textiles, shoes, tetrapak Palm Recycling, Oxfam, 
ERC 



 

39 

 

 



 

40 

 

 Appendix 3: Income generation summary  8

 

Table A3.1: Income generation (excluding recycling credit) – extracted from individual entries in spreadsheet 6B and supplemented by LA data. 

Authority Income 
(i) 

How income (i) is generated 

Sale of 
dry 

recyclate 

Trade Waste Charges Special 
collection 
i.e. bulky 
waste 

Garden 
waste 
service 
charge 

Sale of 
bins 

Textiles Finance lease adjustment Residual 
service 
charge 
Warwickshire 

Misc. 
non vat. 
charges 
- Four 
ashes 
SCC 

Insurance 
claims 
residual vatable non 

vatable 
Misc. 

Residual Recycling 

Garden 
and 
food 

Cannock 
Chase £230,987 £6,297 £139,630 £68,892 

 

£14,943                   

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

£577,11
6 

£144,89
3  

£427,49
2 

 
  £4,731        

South 
Staffordshire 

£131,01
3 

£115,00
0    

 
    £13,888 £2,125             

East 
Staffordshire 

£487,18
0 £88,413 

£170,02
8  

 

    
£93,783 

£67,478 £67,478    

Newcastle 
under Lyme 

£712,28
8 

£219,39
7 £532 

£438,42
0 

£7,169 
 £34,588 £12,182        

Stafford £28,604 £0        £28,604                 

Lichfield & 
Tamworth 

£515,20
6 £13,850  

£337,84
9 

 
£47,238  £950     £7,645 

£104,1
44 £3,530 

Stoke on 
Trent 

               



 

 

 

 

 




	Agenda
	2 Minutes - Joint Waste Management Board - 15 December 2015
	3 Joint Waste Management Board Sub Group - Update
	4 Strategic Waste Management Action Plan  - Performance Report
	5 Exploration of Efficiencies in Waste Management

